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The Carleton E. Wathins Photographs of the Golden Gate
and Goldim Peather Mining Claims

by

Clirence F. McIntosh

Photographs of the progress of construction of the Oroville Dam are
frequent reminders to us of this latest phase of men's attempts to use the
mighty Feather River for their purposes. Several previous ventures involving
major construction in the river channel near the dam site were attempted in
the nineteenth century, but unfortunately a visual record of these, excepting
one, is generally lacking.

Miners attm@iﬁtﬁiéé‘iﬁ& ly as early as 1850 unsueeessfiudly to blast a
new channel for the river at Long's Bar, a short distance below the site of
the Oroville Dam. Miners also constructed several flumes to divert the river
between the points of Oroville and Bidwell Bar, 1855-1859. Seme of these
diversions were large in size. The flume of the Montezums Company in August,
1856, was 1,800 feet long, 45 feet wide, and over 6 feet in height. The
adjoining Junetion Company fluee was 1,600 feet long. Together the companies
diverted the river nearly twe-ihirds of a2 mile. Probably the most successful
of the early river miniung operitions was the Cape claim, which flumed the
river about a mile and & half itbove Oxoville in 1857. The Cape claim reporte-
edly yielded $330,000 in gold ithat season. The Union Cape Company flumed the
river just below the Cape clafin in 1858, but did not yield as well. Theodore

‘Bx.ttell noted in his History o} California that the operation of the Cape and

Union Cape claims above Oroville was "one of the most stupendous mining enter-

prises of the state." Constru:tion included a ditch nearly a mile long, exca-

vated out of solid rock and a Elume made of lumber gufficient to divert the
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entire river for 5,000 feet, [Righteen pumps, operated by water power, drew
water from the river bed. The largest river mining operation, constructed
between the current dam site and the site of the first after~bay, was the
Golden Gate Mining Company and the Golden Feather Mining Company, built
1889«1891, on what had been, according to George Mansfield in his History of
Butte County, the Creek, the Cipe, and the Union Cape claims, A rave set of
photographs of these latter mining enterprises punuJ;AEi;chns their
large scope, even though they ﬁﬁgfu!mrfed by comparison to the current Oroville
project.

Ceneral Manager of both the Golden Cate and the Golden Feather claims
was FPrank McLaughlin, a first-class promoter. He had already been involved
in the consolidation of hydrsulic mining operations at Cherokee and in the Big
Bend Tunnel project before he promoted the ats;mimmn of these two mining
companies. It was perhaps to promote the operations or to send emcouraging
news to his British backers that he had the following photographs taken.
Whatever his motives, it appesrs that Mclaughlin had Carleton E. Watkinms of
Ban Francisco take these photographs as a commercial assigmment. It is doubte
ful vwhether a better choice could have been made, for Watkius was one of the
leading photographers im California at the time.

¥When were the twenty-eight photographs included here taken? They are in
Yhe Baocroft Library im a portnfulibo which was presented by Frank McLaughlia in

1891 to Warrem G. Sanborn, the Chief Engineer snd Superintendent of the Golden

Peather Mining claim. Dates sve included in handwriting onm the mergins of
some of the photographs. The date, November 19, 1891, is on Nos. 9, 10, 12? 3
and 14; that of November 20, 1891, is on Nes. 15 and 183; and that of Novem~
ber 21, 1891 on No. 19, all in the second series on the Golden Feather claim.
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A brief comparison of Mos. 1 amud 2 in the same serxies indicates quite obvi~
ously that Watkins was em the nite on different cccasions. If we accept the
November 19, 1891, date on Ho. 13 of the second series, which pictures the
"completed Dam,” it appears thnt the dated pictures were taken toward the
end of construction. It would be lwpossible on the basis of informationm at
hand to attempt to date closely the othera. Construction started in 1889
and continued for about twentysseven months. The earliest photograph perhaps
was the first in the second series, which was taken after the preliminary
development of roads and camp ites and the building of the rock wall. Allow-
ing several wonths for this, the. Mnﬂphotosmphad pmbably in 1890-1891.
The Golden Gage Mintag cluim, vhich began at Long's Bar and continued
doun to the beginning of the rock wall in the chanmel of the river, is pre-
sented in the first series of night photographs'. The flume into which the
entire flow of low water could be diverted was 40 feet wide, 5 feet deep,
and 3,880 feet long. George W, Dyer was Superintendent of this claim when
the views were taken, The secoud series consists of twenty photographs of
primarily the Golden Feather Mining claim, which extended 6,000 feet dowm
the river along the diversiom vall. The explanatory descriptions included
wi.th each picture are am they nppear in the folio. Further iéenti.ﬂutton
of buildings, whieh is;included within parentheses with some of the phatosrsphs
_ in the second series, is based upon the "Topographical and Construction Map,
Golden Feather Chanmel, Limitel," which appeared in the California State
Kining Bureau publication, Elgremth Report of the State Migeralogist, Two
Years Ending Septewber 15, 189! (Sscramento, 1893). MNr. John Barr Tompkins,
Bead of Public Services, The Bancroft Library, called attemtion of the author
to the shadow of Watkins and hils camera in No. 9 of the same series. Watkins'
photographs as presented here ave reduced in size from the original; they
no doubt suffer somewhat in the change. Yet, they carry the mark of a master

nl
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artist as well as inform the viewer on the projects. The two complete series
are reproduced here for the first time, and through the courtesy of The Ban-
croft Library, University of California, Berkeley.

The photographer, Cirleton E. Watkins, waa largely self-taught. Borm in
Oneonta, Oswege Councy, Mew Youk, on November 11, 1829, he was the youngest of
five children of a Scottich izukeeper. He came to California by ship a short
time after James Marshall's discovery of gold. Few facts are known of his
early life in the state. He wee a clerk in e store on Montgomery Street in
San Pranciseo in 1854, He turved to photograpby largely by chance, . R. H. Vance,
a daguerreotypist who had stuwdios in San Francisco, Sacramento, and S8an Jose,
asked him to become carebaker in the latter establishment on a temporary basis.
Watkins was to meet customers ind take ﬁhsir money; Vance would come to San
Jose to take their pictures. Iut the proprietnf could not find a replacement,
and Watking, after a few minutes of instruction and the study of books on
photography in the studio, begin his carecer in photography. He returnmed to
San Francisco iu 1857 or 1858 to c¢stablish his own studie.

Watkins established his reputation in photopraphing landscapes rather than
in studie work. He traveled through the Facific Coast states, photographing
its natural wonders dnrtna sumwer months. He photographed the Mariposa Grove
in 1858-1859, and Yosemite Valley in 1861, To do the latter, he took his equip~
ment into the mountains by pach animal. He usually traveled by muleback or in
‘a two-horse wagon, He prepared his glass plates on the alte, and exposed and
developed them immediately in « portable dark tent or dark room on his wagon.
These efforts gained him some lawe, for he won in 1868 tha award of fivst prize
by the Committee on Photographie Landsecape at the Paris International .!xpositicnp

Creation and sale of stereoscopic views was an important part of his business
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in the 1870s and 1880s. Watkins had become acquainted with Collis P. Fmiing-
ton while in Opecnta, and the two wen maintained a life<long friendship. As
fortune favored Huntington, he was able to be of some assistance to Watkivs.
Tthe photographer, after employment by the Central Pacific Railroad Company

in copying plans, specificatfons, and legal documents, received san anmual
pass, which he used in some of his travels, from Huntington. But fame and
this friendship did mot lead to prosperity for Watkins. His pictures were
ence sold by creditors while he was absent from San Franeisco.

Even after his msrviage iz 1880 and the birth of two children, Watkins
continued his practice of spemiing the susmer mooths traveling throughout the -
state photographing the wondoxrs of pature and wining operations. He made one
trip by wagon alomg the misalon chain, photographing the cvumbling remains
from the Bispeaic ers. |

Watkins®' health, particulsrly his eyesight, began te fail in the late
1890s. As the years passed he became vearly blind. He had entered imte
pegotistions for the sale of his principal asset, his vast collection of
glass plates and W&ﬂl with Stanford University vhen most of them were
destroyed in the San Prancisce earthquake and fire, April 18, 1906. An old
friend, Charles Turrill, wemt té ‘Watkins' studio at Ninth and Market that
fatefu) morning. There be fouad Watking in & state of confusion and frenzy.
We had been ordered to vacate the bullding, aud yet he was unable to pack his

collection in the time sllottel, Watkine was led from the buildfng as flames
licked its roof.

Watkins never recovered from the shock of his losses. He retived to a
tmall ranch near Capay, Yolo Coumty, which had been deeded to him years before
by his friend, Collis Huatington, but his decline contimmed. Committed to
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the Napa Stste Hospital in 1910, he dfed there at the age of eighty-seven on
June 23, 1916. |

The destruction of most o his plates and photographs in 1906 may have
é-mivéd Wathkins of dessrved fime. Collections of some of his works within
Caltfornia are in the Californla Srate Library, the Huntimgton Library, the
Seciety of California Picnesrs, the Stanford University Library, The Bameroft
Library and the Hesrst Mioing building of the University of California. At
least two authors in recent yeurs have written articles which have brought him
to attention again, One of thise, Helen 8, Giffen, concluded that, "For some
fifty years Watking wis a lesdir In the field of California photegraphy.”

The other, Joe William Johnson, professor of hydraulic engineering at the
University of Caltfornis, Bekkiley, has done more extemsive writing on Watkins.
Johnson concluded in 1950 that "the esgineering professien is indebted o

€. E. Vatkins" for his preservition of "a pictorial recexd of important engi~
peering works of early mining idays.” In 1960, Johnsou dubbed Watkins “the
foremost photographer of Californis’s natural beauties” for half a century.

The twenty-sight phetograjhs of the Golden Cate and the Golden Feather
claims are perhaps the best il available to an understanding of the comstruce
tion and operation of this las: grest attempt st river minisg in Butte County.
An smgineering success, the oprration wvas a mining failure. Some gold was
obtained from the channel but not (o sufficient amounts to wmake the claims
successes, Working of the chammel continued through 1895 and 1896, In the

" fovmer year, 400 feet of the Golden Peather Chanmel were worked and 500 feet
stripped. PFifty mem, under @eorge E. Svﬁ. Superintendent, were employed in
the 1896 season. But in 1897 he operation was closed, the dams destroyed and
the river veturned to its chanasel.
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